42519-0-II

RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Nov 08, 2013, 1:57 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPEREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON



State of Washington Respondent

Catherine Anne Betts
Petitioner

On Appeal from the Superior Court of Clallam County

Cause No. 10-1-00121-1 The Honorable Brooke Taylor

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jordan B. McCabe, WSBA No. 27211 Attorney for Petitioner, Catherine Anne Betts



CONTENTS

Authorities Cited ii					
A.	Identity of Petitioner				
B.	Court of Appeals Decision				
C.	Issues Presented for Review				
D.	Statement of the Case				
E.	Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Catherine Betts was convicted of embezzling funds in her capacity as a cashier with the Clallam County Treasurer's Office. The Court of Appeals affirmed all convictions. Decision at 1-2.

1

¹ Garrity v. New Jersey, 385 U.S. 493, 496, 87 S. Ct. 616, 17 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1967).

Ms. Betts was the Clallam County Treasurer's Office cashier from 2001 to 2009. RP 1112-13. The office frequently handles between \$100,000 and \$1M in cash in a single day. RP 677, 756.

Sellers of real estate must pay excise taxes (REET) to the county

Treasurer's Office by presenting a deed and affidavit with the REET

payment. One of six employees would stamp the affidavit with a

consecutive number, then would note the number on the deed by hand.

RP 682-83, 739, 747, 1114-15. Management was aware that the cashier's stamp regularly skipped numbers or accidentally stamped two numbers.

RP 682, 698, 750, 796, 798, 1115. Checks went into a basket at the counter with an attached copy of the affidavit; cash went into Ms. Betts's cash drawer. RP 1119-20. Betts rarely took payments herself. RP 1119.

Each day, Ms. Betts reconciled the previous day's monies with the affidavits and recorded all transactions and totals on a spreadsheet. RP 1130. She recorded the daily total on a master spreadsheet of all revenue received by the Treasurer's Office. *Id*.

All the Treasurer's Office employees used Betts's computer password. RP 726, 783-84, 806. Her spreadsheets, including the master spreadsheet used to prepare the monthly reports, were freely accessible without a password. RP 786, 1190.

The accountant, Anne Stallard, was tasked with using the

spreadsheets to prepare a monthly REET report for the Department of Revenue, and to sign off that the report was in final form and had been filed. RP 778, 780. For 29 months, ending in May, 2009, all but 19 of these reports were undated, and all but five of those were unsigned. Ex. 1-19; RP 721, 795-96. There was no indication that any monthly report was ever mailed. RP 778-79, 802.

Instead of looking over the daily spreadsheets, Stallard simply transferred Betts's totals from the master spreadsheet into her monthly reports. RP 751; 796.

Clallam County Treasurer Judy Scott believed that Anne Stallard was supervising the cashiers. RP 718, 774, 809. But Stallard was unaware of this responsibility. RP 86, 774. So the daily REET transactions were never checked. RP 742, 776-78, 788.

On May 19, 2009, Ms. Betts could not balance the previous day's receipts. RP 1137. This was highly unusual. RP 75, 104, 117. Ms. Stallard found a \$300 checkbook error that resolved the problem, but she also found a REET affidavit for \$877 with no check attached. RP 76-77, 130, 1140-41. Betts asked Stallard to go with her to see if the check was in the Auditor's office. RP 78. When Betts stopped outside the auditor's office and started crying, Stallard asked her, "What have you done?" RP 78, 136, 763. Stallard assumed that Betts had stolen money before she

asked. RP 93, 157. Betts admitted having taken the check when it turned up in her cash drawer with no paperwork. RP 79, 81, 669.

Betts asked Stallard to fetch her purse so that she could leave immediately, but Stallard insisted that policy required a meeting with Judy Scott. RP 81, 94, 136. Stallard took Betts to Scott's office, where the two women questioned her. RP 81-82, 94-95, 136-37.

Ms. Betts answered their questions because she knew she could be fired if she refused. RP 138, 140, 146-48. County employees are required, on penalty of termination, to immediately and candidly volunteer all they knew regarding an ongoing investigation. Policy 235 § 10.7, Exhibit 1 at 6; RP 101.

Betts was not allowed to leave. CP 97, 109; RP 83. Stallard and Scott claimed their primary concern was Betts's safety, but Scott was concerned that Betts might try to flee. RP 99, 109. Scott was clear that Betts was not free to leave, and Stallard testified that she positioned herself in front of the door. RP 95, 119-21, 153. Then, Scott took Betts to the personnel office where she was questioned by Scott, Marge Upham and Iva Burk. CP 97, 109; RP 124-25,141-42. Following this interrogation, Scott took Betts to a lawyer's office. RP 110, 126, 144.

Meanwhile, Stallard examined the REET spreadsheets for hidden

rows, which would appear as skipped row numbers.² RP 770, 773. Stallard had failed to notice any skipped rows because the row-number column, which appeared on the daily reports, did not appear on the monthly spreadsheet. RP 789.

James Brittain, Director of Special Investigations for the State Auditor, performed a forensic audit of the 2004-2009 REET records and concluded that shortfalls totaled \$617,000, and that only Ms. Betts could be responsible. RP 658, 828.

Detective Jason Viada obtained warrants for Betts's bank accounts and found deposits in excess of her county earnings. He sent summaries to the Attorney General, where an anonymous staffer summarized the summaries. The A.G.'s summaries were the only bank evidence and came in over a hearsay objection. RP 1017, 1020, 1024-28.

Betts explained that she and her husband paid household expenses with her earnings and deposited his earnings into savings, and he gave her cash as needed, usually around \$1,000 per month, which she deposited. RP 1148, 1153. Betts also had deposited \$9,000 from an IRA and frequent cash advances from a credit card. RP 1146, 1150. The couple had refinanced their house a couple of times. RP 1154-55. Finally, Ms.

² The EXCEL® program permits hidden entries and subtracts negative dollar amounts so that the total displayed balances with the receipts.

Betts had had a second job for several years. RP 1029.

The State charged Betts with first degree theft for the aggregated REET shortages; money laundering by depositing stolen funds into her personal accounts; and 19 counts of filing false tax returns based on the monthly reports prepared by Stallard between 2007 and 2009. RP 1190.

Pretrial, the prosecutor broached the issue of venue, and defense counsel said he was preparing a motion. RP 63. The court was confident it could seat an impartial jury and would deny the motion:

[M]y gut reaction is I don't think we're going to have any problem finding a jury that's going to be able to sit here, so — but go ahead and file your motion ... so it'll be part of the record.

Decision at 7, note 6; RP 65. The Court of Appeals found this colloquy insufficient to preserve the issue of whether a jury of victims of the alleged embezzlement could be impartial as a matter of law. Decision at 14. Trial counsel did not renew the venue motion, and the case remained in Clallam County.

Betts moved to suppress her statements as inherently coerced under the *Garrity* doctrine because she was subject to the County policy that employees must answer all questions from supervisors or face termination. RP 69-71. The court admitted the statements. RP 167.

Betts challenged the first-degree theft count because it aggregated

amounts greater than \$250, contrary to RCW 9A.56.010(21)(c). The court declined to disturb the first-degree theft charge. RP 924-25; RP 961.

A Clallam County jury convicted Betts on all counts. CP 19-20.

She received an exceptional sentence of 144 months. CP 21-22.

E. ARGUMENTS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

- 1. Betts's venue challenge raises significant questions under the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Wash. Const. art. 1, §§ 3 & 22, and conflicts with prior decisions of this Court, the United States Supreme Court, and the Court of Appeals that elevate constitutional due process over rules of evidence. Issues 1 & 2, pp. 8 10.
- 2. The erroneous interpretation of *Garrity v. New Jersey*, 385 U.S. 493 (1967) raises significant questions under the Fifth Amendment and Const. art. 1, § 22. Issue 3, p. 11.
- 3. Substituting common law for plain language in the aggregation statute conflicts with prior decisions of this Court and other divisions of the Court of Appeals and renders the statute unconstitutional as applied to these facts. Issue 4, pp. 14, 17.
- 4. On the unusual facts of this case, multiple convictions for theft and money laundering violated Double Jeopardy. Issue 6, p.17.

1. BETTS WAS ENTITLEDTO REVIEW OF THE VENUE ISSUE.

The Court of Appeals erroneously denied review of the venue challenge, even if it was clumsily presented below. Decision at 14.

Discretionary Review: RAP 2.5(a) provides that if a party fails to raise an issue at trial, the appellate court "may" decline to review it, meaning that the decision is discretionary. Roberson v. Perez, 156 Wn.2d 33, 39, 123 P.3d 844 (2005); State v. Ford, 137 Wn.2d 472, 477, 484-85, 973 P.2d 452 (1999); State v. Russell, 171 Wn.2d 118, 122, 149 P.3d 694 (2011).³ RAP 2.5(a) codifies the long-standing appellate practice of addressing error where justice will be served. State v. Noel, 51 Wn. App. 436, 439, 753 P.2d 1017 (1988). In Noel, Division I reviewed a jury instruction challenged for the first time on appeal because the issue arose frequently and needed to be addressed. Noel, 51 Wn. App. at 439.

The court may review an issue that is reasonably clear from the brief if the respondent is not prejudiced and the court is not overly inconvenienced. *State v. Olson*, 126 Wn.2d 315, 323, 893 P.2d 629 (1995). Even if an issue is not clearly articulated in the trial record, the reasons underlying the rule are served so long as defense counsel, the

³ State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 217 P.3d 756 (2009), directly conflicts with these decisions by holding that RAP 2.5(a) did not apply and that the Court of Appeals erred by opting to review a claim of error deemed neither constitutional nor manifest that was not preserved below. O'Hara 167 Wn.2d at 109. The Court should reconsider O'Hara.

prosecutor and the trial judge all understood the issue and the trial court ruled on it. *State v. Powell*, 206 P.3d 321, 328, 206 P.3d 321 (2009), Stephens, J concurring. It is sufficient that the issue, though not specifically lodged at trial, is readily apparent from circumstances. *State v. Black*, 109 Wn.2d 336, 340, 745 P.2d 12 (1987); 5 Tegland, WASHINGTON PRACTICE: EVIDENCE LAW AND PRACTICE, § 103.11, at 58-59 (5th ed.2007). Here, the oral colloquy broached the issue of potentially unavoidable prejudice due to the nature of the crime.

Review As Of Right: Due process requires review of assignments of error that raise significant constitutional issues, even if no exception was taken. State v. Kroll, 87 Wn.2d 829, 839, 558 P.2d 173 (1977). This is especially crucial in cases involving loss of liberty. Maynard Inv. Co. v. McCann, 77 Wn.2d 616, 622, 465 P.2d 657 (1970). "[T]he court will notice errors appearing upon the record which deprived the accused of substantial means of enjoying a fair and impartial trial, although no exceptions were preserved, or the question is imperfectly presented." Id.

A two-part test determines whether RAP 2.5(a)(3) creates a right to review. The error must be truly constitutional and must have "practical and identifiable" consequences. *State v. Kirkpatrick*, 160 Wn.2d 873, 879, 161 P.3d 990 (2007), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Jasper*, 174 Wn.2d 96, 271 P.3d 876 (2012).

Trial by an impartial jury is guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and Const. art. 1, § 22. A fair trial is guaranteed by the due process clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments and Const. art. 1, § 3. State v. Crudup, 11 Wn. App. 583, 586-87, 524 P.2d 479 (1974); Estes v. Texas, 381 U.S. 532, 535, 85 S. Ct. 1628, 14 L. Ed. 2d 543 (1965). Holding a criminal trial in circumstances involving probable prejudice is "inherently lacking in due process. Crudup, 11 Wn. App. at 586-587. Actual prejudice need not be shown." Id.

Here, the Court of Appeals overlooked the constitutional implications of the venue: Betts was charged with a major crime against the citizens of Clallam County who constituted the entire jury venire.

Accordingly, the venue error is of constitutional magnitude, and its consequences are eminently practical and identifiable.

2. TRIAL IN CLALLAM COUNTY VIOLATED DUE PROCESS AS A MATTER OF LAW.

Venue is a matter of trial court discretion where the effect of prejudicial pretrial publicity is a question of fact, such as whether twelve uncontaminated jurors can be found. *Crudup*, 11 Wn. App. at 584, 586. Here, by contrast, the standard of review is de novo, because the venue issue is a question of law. *State v. Garza*, 150 Wn.2d 360, 366, 77 P.3d 347 (2003) (the abuse of discretion standard is appropriate only regarding

factual determinations which the trial court is in a better position to make). The question here is whether the guarantees of the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Const. art. 1, §§ 3 and 22 were observed. *Crudup*, 11 Wn. App. at 586-587; *Estes*, 381 U.S. at 535.

It is the duty of the trial court to ensure that the defendant receives an impartial jury. *State v. Hillman*, 42 Wash. 615, 619, 85 P. 63 (1906). The court must take corrective action when prejudice jeopardizes the prospect of a fair trial. *State v. Wixon*, 30 Wn. App. 63, 67, 631 P.2d 1033 (1981). It is reversible error to deny a change of venue where the right to an impartial jury is threatened by probable prejudice. *State v. Gilcrist*, 91 Wn.2d 603, 609, 590 P.2d 809 (1979). Actual prejudice need not be shown. *State v. Stiltner*, 80 Wn.2d 47, 491 P.2d 1043 (1971).

Here, where a public employee was accused of stealing over half a million dollars from taxpayers, it was not possible to assure a fair trial by an unbiased jury. This Court should reverse and remand for a new trial in a different venue.

3. BETTS'S INCRIMINATING STATEMENTS WERE INHERENTLY COERCED UNDER *GARRITY*.⁴

The Court of Appeals denied review of a second reversible error by failing to distinguish between a finding of fact and a conclusion of law.

-

⁴ Garrity v. New Jersey, 385 U.S. 493, 496, 87 S. Ct. 616, 17 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1967).

Decision at 16-17. A finding of fact asserts that something happened, independently of its legal effect, but a "finding" that carries legal implications is a conclusion of law. *Miebach v. Colasurdo*, 35 Wn. App. 803, 814, 670 P.2d 276 (1983). Here, whether Betts's spontaneous statements and answers to questions were "voluntary" or "inherently coerced" are conclusions of law, which Division II dismissed as verities on appeal because they were not challenged as findings of fact. Decision at 16-17. Betts's *Garrity* challenge should have received de novo review.

In *Garrity*, a group of police officers were investigated for fixing traffic tickets. *Garrity*, 385 U.S. at 494. A statute required that the officers be informed before questioning that anything they said could be used against them in a criminal proceeding and that they could refuse to answer. The statute also provided that if they refused to answer, they could be removed from office and lose their pension rights. *Garrity*, 385 U.S. at 494, n.1. Their defense was that the statute deprived them of 'free choice to admit, to deny, or to refuse to answer.' *Garrity*, 385 U.S. at 496.

The Supreme Court held that statements by public employees faced with either forfeiting their jobs or incriminating themselves are inherently coerced and cannot be used in criminal proceedings. *Garrity*, 385 U.S. at 497-98. This protection extends to all public employees. *Garrity*, at 500.

The Court concluded that Betts's statements were voluntary because no overt coercion was manifest when the statements were obtained. Decision at 16. This confounds *Garrity*'s significance: that the mere existence of a "talk or be fired" policy is inherently coercive. *Garrity*, 385 U.S. at 497. For public sector employees, the fear of being discharged for refusing to answer constitutes coercion in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment. *Garrity*, 385 U.S. at 496.

The United States Supreme Court has never held that a public employee may not be fired for refusing to cooperate with a disciplinary proceeding, only that statements "given under this lash" cannot be used in a criminal prosecution. *Spevack v. Klein*, 385 U.S. 511, 87 S. Ct. 625, 630, 17 L. Ed. 2d 574 (1967), cited *Uniformed Sanitation Men Ass'n v. Comm'r of Sanitation of City of New York*, 426 F.2d 619, 625 (C.A.N.Y. 1970) (where the City gave workers criminal immunity, it was lawful to fire them for refusing to cooperate with the inquiry). *Id.* at 621.

Because Betts was a public employee subject to a coercive policy and not offered immunity, her statements could be used *either* to fire her *or* to prosecute her criminally, but not both. Policy 235 mandated that she "candidly volunteer" information tending to incriminate her by corroborating the complaint. §10.7, Ex. 1 at 6. But both due process under *Garrity* and Policy 235 itself required that questions likely to elicit

an incriminating response must be postponed until a formal hearing with the opportunity to consult a labor representative. Ex. 1, at 6. Under §10.9, as soon as either supervisor formed a reasonable belief that the inquiry might lead to discipline, the interview should have ceased until Betts was so notified. Here, Ms. Stallard admitted that she suspected theft before she asked Betts what was wrong outside the auditor's office, and Scott expected Betts to flee. RP 93, 109, 157.

Unlike in *Garrity*, where officers were advised that they need not answer and that anything they did say could be used against them in a criminal prosecution,⁵ Betts received no such warning.

Given that the County had a forfeiture policy, and that Betts knew about it, the inherent coercion conclusion follows as a matter of law.

4. AGGREGATING THEFTS GREATER THAN THIRD DEGREE VIOLATED RCW 9A.56.010(21)(c).

Issues of statutory interpretation are questions of law subject to de novo review. *State v. Rice*, 174 Wn.2d 884, 892, 279 P.3d 849 (2012).

Plain language must be given effect. *State v. Marohl*, 170 Wn.2d 691, 699, 246 P.3d 177 (2010). RCW 9A.56.010 plainly states:

[W]henever any series of transactions which constitute theft would, when considered separately, <u>constitute theft in</u> <u>the third degree</u> because of value, <u>and</u> said series of transactions are a part of a criminal episode or a common

-

⁵ Garrity at 504, Harlan, J., dissenting

scheme or plan, then the transactions may be aggregated in one count[.]

RCW 9A.56.010(21)(c).

This statute is not ambiguous and is thus not susceptible to judicial construction. Nonetheless, the Court skips the plain language limiting aggregation to thefts constituting third degree, and holds that RCW 9A.56.010(21)(c) permits aggregation of any thefts that are part of a common scheme or plan, invoking the canon that statutory construction should avoid abrogating the common law. Decision at 26-27. Thus, the Court introduces the common law canon to construe plain language, then applies the common law canon to resolve the ambiguity it has created.

The Court may not add or delete words from an unambiguous statute. *State v. Taylor*, 97 Wn.2d 724, 728, 649 P.2d 633 (1982).

Drafting statutes is a legislative, not a judicial, function. *State v. Jackson*, 137 Wn.2d 712, 725, 976 P.2d 1229 (1999). The Court must give effect to all the language, "with no portion rendered meaningless or superfluous." *State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d 614, 624-25, 106 P.3d 196 (2005).

RCW 9A.56.010(21)(c) plainly says that a common scheme or plan is one of two requirements for aggregation; the individual acts must also constitute third degree theft. The language permitting aggregation solely of third degree thefts is rendered superfluous if the State can

aggregate any series of thefts regardless of degree.

Further, RCW 9A.56.010(21)(c) is a penal statute. Therefore, under the Rule of Lenity, any ambiguity must be strictly construed against the State. *State v. Jacobs*, 154 Wn.2d 596, 601, 115 P.3d 281 (2005).

Accordingly, the common law canon has no place in this analysis. If RCW 9A.56.010(21)(c) is not ambiguous, the Court must enforce its plain language. If the statute is ambiguous, the Court must construe it strictly against the State.

The Criminal Code looks to the common law to supplement, but not substitute, its provisions. RCW 9A.04.060.⁶ Common law may define terms not given a statutory definition. *State v. Byrd*, 125 Wn.2d 707, 712, 887 P.2d 396 (1995) (defining "assault"). But where, as here, a statute is plain and unambiguous, it "must be construed in conformity to its obvious meaning without regard to the previous state of the common law." *City of Federal Way v. Koenig*, 167 Wn.2d 341, 351, 217 P.3d 1172 (2009), quoting *State ex rel. Madden v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1*, 83 Wn.2d 219, 222, 517 P.2d 585 (1973), *cert. denied*, 419 U.S. 808 (1974).

⁶ RCW 9A.04.060. The provisions of the common law relating to the commission of crime and the punishment thereof, insofar as not inconsistent with the Constitution and statutes of this state, shall supplement all penal statutes of this state and all persons offending against the same shall be tried in the courts of this state having jurisdiction of the offense.

5. AS INTERPRETED HERE, THE AGGRETATION STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE.

The Court reviews constitutional challenges de novo. *State v. Abrams*, 163 Wn.2d 277, 283, 178 P.2d 1021 (2008). If a statute lends itself to a limiting construction a reviewing court should construe it so as to avoid a constitutional defect. *Abrams*, 163 Wn.2d at 283; *New York v. Ferber*, 458 U.S. 747, 769, 102 S. Ct. 3348, 73 L. Ed. 2d 1113 (1982).

Criminal statutes must provide sufficient warning of what conduct is unlawful to preclude arbitrary enforcement. *State v. Halstien*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 116, 857 P.2d 270 (1993). To survive a vagueness challenge, a criminal statute must contain "adequate standards to prevent arbitrary enforcement" so that police, judges, and juries are not free to decide what is prohibited and what is not, depending on the facts in each particular case. *State v. Maciolek*, 101 Wn.2d 259, 264, 276 P.2d 996 (1984).

A citizen need not research centuries of common law for possible alternative meanings of penal statutes. By disregarding the plain language of the aggregation statute and invoking the common law, the Court permits the arbitrary enforcement of this statute against Ms. Betts.

6. CONVICTIONS FOR BOTH THEFT AND MONEY LAUNDERING VIOLATED DOUBLE JEOPARDY.

The Court erroneously concludes that an employee authorized to receive checks can be convicted for both theft and money laundering if she

deposits a check in her own account. Decision at 34-35. Under the common law, however, this constitutes a single crime. *State v. Joy*, 121 Wn.2d 333, 341, 851 P.2d 654 (1993). As in *Joy*, Betts had authority to obtain and exercise control of County funds, so the crime of theft was not complete until she engaged in a financial transaction on her own account.

Theft requires that a person "wrongfully obtain or exert unauthorized control over" property. RCW 9A.56.020(1)(a). As a cashier authorized to handle County funds, Betts did not wrongfully exert control until she deposited funds in her own account — a financial transaction that also constituted the essential element of the money laundering charges. RCW 9A 83.020.

Where internal controls are lacking and other persons received funds and make entries in the accounts, the State must proof of theft requires evidence that the employee converted funds for her own use. State v. Randecker, 1 Wn. App. 834, 836, 464 P.2d 447 (1970).

Here, as in *Randecker*, the State could not establish exclusive access to the cash drawer, and the evidence showed a mind-boggling lack of control over the funds. *Randecker*, 1 Wn. App. at 836-37. Moreover, the State needed only substantial evidence to take the case to the jury in *Randecker*, not, as here, proof beyond a reasonable doubt. The evidence was insufficient to support a finding beyond a reasonable doubt that Betts

was responsible for any shortages. The lack of controls and total absence of oversight was common knowledge, possessed by everyone in the office who covered for Betts in her absence. RP 784-85.

The decision fails to address Betts's supporting authorities. *Joy*, 121 Wn.2d at 341 (theft not complete until employee misallocates funds); *Milanovich v. United States*, 365 U.S. 551, 558, 81 S. Ct. 728, 732, 5 L. Ed. 2d 773 (1961) (taking and receiving same property constitutes a single transaction as a matter of law); *In re Orange*, 152 Wn.2d 795, 820, 100 P.3d 291 (2004) (double jeopardy violated when evidence required for conviction on one crime is sufficient to convict on the other); *United States v. Christo*, 129 F.3d 578, 580-81 (11th Cir.1997); *United States v. Savage*, 67 F.3d 1435, 1441 (9th Cir.1995) (money laundering not proven where predicate crime requires misapplication of funds).

Where a jury convicts twice for a single offense both convictions must be vacated. *Milanovich*, 365 U.S. at 558-559.

F. <u>CONCLUSION</u> The Court should address the constitutional issues, vacate the convictions and dismiss the prosecution with prejudice.

Respectfully submitted this 9th day of October, 2013.

Jordan B. McCabe, WSBA No. 27211
Counsel for Catherine Anne Betts

19 McCabe Law Office P. O. Box 7424, Bellevue, WA 98008 425-747-0452 • jordanmccabe@comcast.net