RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Nov 08, 2013, 1:56 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

NO. 89701-8- RECEIVED BY E-MADE

Court of Appeals No. 42519-0-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

v.

CATHERINE ANNE BETTS,

Petitioner.

STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

SCOTT A. MARLOW Assistant Attorney General WSBA #25987, OID #91093 800 5th Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-4630

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

IV. ARGUMENT

The Supreme Court will review a decision terminating appellate review only in the following limited circumstances:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Betts does not directly address the above criteria in the Petition for Review, instead repeating the arguments she made below. She has not demonstrated that further review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b) and this Court should deny her petition.

1111

A. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Concluded That The Trial Court Did Not Need To Address Venue When No Motion To Change Venue Was Made; Its Decision Does Not Conflict With Precedent, Raise An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest, Or Present A Significant Constitutional Issue

The Court of Appeals held correctly that Betts did not move for a change of venue, that her arguments that the trial court erred in maintaining venue in Clallam County therefore failed at the outset, and that the merits of her venue argument need not be addressed further. *State* v. *Betts*, at 14. The Court of Appeals did point out in a footnote that even if a Motion for Change of Venue were somehow credited to Betts in the trial court, it was not supported with the required affidavits or other proof of prejudice as required by the law. *Id.* at 14 n.11 (citing RCW 4.12.030; CrR 5.2(b)(2); *State* v. *Eppens*, 30 Wn. App. 119, 127, 633 P.2d 92 (1981)).

Betts' Petition for Review attempts to make a case for a review of a venue issue even if not presented below by claiming that such a review is either allowable or required under RAP 2.5 or a due process analysis. These claims ignore the fact that without the issue developed factually in the trial court, the appellate courts would have nothing upon which to base such a review.

Betts also seems to claim that despite the careful and thorough voir dire conducted by the parties and trial court, appellate courts can and

should assume prejudice based solely upon the nature of the allegation.² "A party can not submit to a trial, and then, because the result is adverse, attack the venue." *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 421, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), *cert. denied*, 475 U.S. 1020, 106 S. Ct 1208, 89 L. Ed. 2d 321 (1986); *Schroeder v. Schroeder*, 74 Wn.2d 853, 855, 447 P.2d 604 (1968). A defendant who fails to raise a challenge to venue waives that challenge. *State v. Dent*, 123 Wn.2d 467, 479-80, 869 P.2d 392 (1994). *See also State v. Fagalde*, 85 Wn.2d 730, 731, 539 P.2d 86 (1975), (failure to object at trial will operate as a waiver of the right to assert that error on appeal).

Betts invites this Court to assume prejudice when none exists, when the record below shows that careful consideration was given to avoid such prejudice during the *voir dire* process. RP 209 – 623. Such an invitation as well as Betts Petition for Review on the Venue issue should be denied. The Court of Appeals correctly decided this issue.

² Betts argument also ignores the very real possibility of the decision not to seek a change of venue being a strategic one on the part of trial counsel. Throughout the trial, the defense attempted to paint the entire Office of the Clallam County Treasurer as being at fault – an argument that would seem to be directed towards jurors drawn from the Clallam County electorate, to whom the elected Clallam County Treasurer is answerable. Further, to the extent her venue argument rests on the contention that no fair jury could be seated in Clallam County because the alleged crimes involved theft from taxpayers, that argument would extend to the entire state—no fair jury could be seated anywhere in the state because a large portion of the money stolen was destined for the Washington State General Fund. That argument is untenable on its face.

B. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Concluded That Betts' Statements Were Not Coerced And Not Subject To Suppression; Its Decision Does Not Conflict With Precedent, Raise An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest, Or Present A Significant Constitutional Issue

The Court of Appeals reviewed the trial court's denial of Betts' motion to suppress her statements under the standard set forth in *State v. Ross*, 106 Wn. App. 876, 880, 26 P.3d 298 (2001), determining whether substantial facts support the trial court's findings of fact and whether those findings support the trial court's conclusions of law. *State v. Betts* at 15. Betts baldly asserts that any statement given by a public employee is inherently coercive under *Garrity v. New Jersey*, 385 U.S. 493, 87 S. Ct. 616, 17 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1967), and should be suppressed. Such a claim is without merit and does not touch upon any of the review criteria set forth in RAP 13.4.

Betts ignores the facts developed at the suppression hearing and the unchallenged findings of fact and conclusions of law entered by the trial court. Such unchallenged findings are verities on appeal. State v. Hill, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 870 P.2d 313 (1994); In re Riley, 76 Wn.2d 32, 454 P.2d 820, cert denied, 396 U.S. 972, 90 S. Ct. 461, 24 L. Ed. 2d 440 (1969). The trial court found that the initial statements of Betts were "entirely voluntary" and that the later statements were not made under "coercive conditions." State v. Betts at 16 (reciting trial court's findings).

Further, Betts admitted that she did not understand the policy which she now claims was so coercive as to render her statements inadmissible. *Id.*She does not acknowledge that the Clallam County policy at issue differed from that reviewed in *Garrity*. In *Garrity*, the policy at issue was coercive because it required police officers to choose between forfeiting their jobs or incriminating themselves. *Garrity*, 385 U.S. 497-98. The Clallam County policy simply required employees to cooperate in internal investigations. *State v. Betts* at 16.

Betts' claim below that the statements should have been suppressed under the principles outlined in *Garrity* is not supported by the trial court's factual findings, which are not challenged, and her claim does not present a basis for review under RAP 13.4. The trial court held an evidentiary hearing on the issue and entered findings of fact and conclusions of law based upon and supported by that hearing. Those findings and conclusions support the admission of Betts' statements. The Court of Appeals properly reviewed the claim and found ample evidence in the unchallenged findings to determine that "the trial court did not violate Betts' due process rights in admitting her statements at trial." *State* v. *Betts* at 17. Further review is not warranted.

C. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Concluded The Trial Court Did Not Err In Allowing The Aggregation Of Multiple Thefts Into A Single Count; Its Decision Does Not Conflict With Precedent, Raise An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest, Or Present A Significant Constitutional Issue

Betts claims the trial court erred by allowing the prosecution to aggregate multiple thefts into a single count under the common law theory that the individual offenses were part of a common scheme or plan. She asks for review of the Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court on that issue, but she again ignores the requirements of RAP 13.4. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in accord with existing appellate court decisions, does not conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court, and is neither a significant question of law nor of substantial public interest.

A prosecutor has broad discretion in charging a suspect with violations of the law and choosing what charges to bring to adequately address the defendant's conduct. *State v. Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d 566, 572, 683 P.2d 173 (1984). The ability of a prosecutor to aggregate counts of theft under the common law is well established. *State v. Atterton*, 81 Wn. App. 470, 472, 915 P.2d 535 (1996); *State v. Barton*, 28 Wn. App. 690, 691, 626 P.2d 509, *review denied* 95 Wn.2d 1027 (1981). *State v. Meyer*, 26 Wn. App. 119, 124, 613 P.2d 132 (1980); *State v. Vining*, 2 Wn. App. 802, 808, 472 P.2d 564 (1970). Betts disregards these precedents and argues they are abrogated by RCW 9A.56.010(21)(c), but her argument

rests on a flawed assumption that this subsection of the definitional statute displaces the common law, when nothing in the language of that statute purports to do so. Indeed, the legislature specifically provided in the first chapter of Title 9A that

[t]he provisions of the common law relating to the commission of crime and the punishment thereof, insofar as not inconsistent with the Constitution and statutes of this state, shall supplement all penal statutes of this state and all persons offending against the same shall be tried in the courts of this state having jurisdiction of the offense.

RCW 9A.04.060.

The State established that the thefts were part of a common scheme or plan and thus under the common law was entitled to aggregate those thefts into a single count. *See Atterton*, 81 Wn. App. at 472 ("Aggregation of individual transactions to meet the threshold for a particular degree of theft is allowed by common law and by statute."). *Accord Barton*, 28 Wn. App. at 694-95. The Court of Appeals correctly decided this issue.

D. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Concluded There Was No Double Jeopardy Violation; Its Decision Does Not Conflict With Precedent, Raise An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest, Or Present A Significant Constitutional Issue

Betts again ignores the requirements of RAP 13.4 in asserting a claim that punishment for both Theft and Money Laundering violates double jeopardy. Betts fails to cite any cases in conflict with the decision

of the Court of Appeals and further ignores the clear language of the Money Laundering statute. Betts' request to review must be denied.

When analyzing a claimed double jeopardy violation, the courts look first to the language of the statutes to determine whether the statutory language expressly provides for cumulative punishments. If that is the case, then the inquiry ends and double jeopardy provisions are not violated. *State v. Jackman*, 156 Wn.2d 736, 746, 132 P.3d 136 (2006).

The Money Laundering statute specifically provides for cumulative punishments. "Proceedings under this chapter shall be in addition to any other criminal penalties, civil penalties, or forfeitures authorized under state law." RCW 9A.83.020(6). The Court of Appeals even addressed the second step of a double jeopardy analysis – the same evidence test – in a footnote and found that it also resulted in a finding that double jeopardy was not implicated. *State v. Betts* at 36-37, n.28. Double jeopardy is not violated and Betts' request for review should be denied. The Court of Appeals correctly decided this issue.

V. CONCLUSION

The petition for review does not satisfy the criteria in RAP 13.4. Betts had a fair trial and the Court of Appeals appropriately rejected Betts' claims on appeal. The petition for review should be denied.